Technical Memorandum:

Economic Benefits of the Construction and Operations of the Blawn Mountain Project

Submitted to:

Submitted by:





170 S. Main Street, Suite 500 Salt Lake City, Utah 84101

535 16th Street, Suite 600 Denver, Colorado 80202

11/12/2014

Table of Contents

1.0	Introduction	2
2.0	Project Location	2
3.0	Study Area	2
4.0	Socioeconomic Characteristics of the Study Area	2
4.1	Population	3
5.0	Methodology	4
5.1	IMPLAN	4
5.2	Economic Benefits of the Construction and Other Capital Investments	5
5.3	Economic Benefits of Blawn Mountain Project Operations	9
5.4	Fiscal Benefits	10
6.0	Results	11
6.1	Economic Benefits of Construction and Capital Investments	11
6.2	Economic Benefits of Mine and Processing Plant Operations	12
6.3	Fiscal Benefits of the Construction and Operations of the Blawn Mountain Project	13
7.0	References	17

1.0 Introduction

This study evaluates the potential economic and fiscal benefits of the construction and operation of the Blawn Mountain Project (the Project) in Beaver County, Utah. Potash Ridge Corporation (PRC) is planning to construct the Project, a potassium sulfate processing plant and sulfuric acid plant. In addition, PRC will contract with a mine operator to develop the alunite deposit to supply the raw materials for the plants. Additional infrastructure will be developed in support of the mining and processing operations, including a natural gas pipeline, rail facility, water supply and treatment system, wastewater treatment facility, product storage and handling facilities, electric substation, and access roads.

The Project is comprised of 15,404 acres, all located in Beaver County, Utah. The State of Utah surface and mineral tracts are administered by the State of Utah School and Institutional Trust Lands Administration (SITLA). Potash Ridge Corporation (PRC) has rights to the property through state mineral leases administered by SITLA.

2.0 Project Location

The Project is located in the southern Wah Wah Mountains of Beaver County, Utah about 180 air miles south-southwest of Salt Lake City. The property is situated west-southwest of Milford (30 air miles to the northeast) and west-northwest of Cedar City (55 air miles to the southeast) and 30 air miles from the Nevada state border. The Project area can be accessed from Interstate 15 and State Route 21 and is about 20 air miles west of a Union Pacific Railroad route.

3.0 Study Area

The Project is located in a rural area of Beaver County in south-central Utah. The towns of Milford, Minersville and Beaver in Beaver County are closest to the project site. The next closest community to the project site is Cedar City, which is located in Iron County. The workforce and construction services will be sourced primarily from both Beaver and Iron counties. As a result, the study area used for this analysis associated with the Project is defined as the two-county region. In addition, the study also evaluated the economic benefits to the state of Utah.

4.0 Socioeconomic Characteristics of the Study Area

The following section describes the current socioeconomic conditions in the two-county study area and the state in order to provide context on the economic contribution of the mine and processing facilities. This includes a description of population, labor force, average earnings, employment, and unemployment rates.

4.1 Population

Populations of the counties, state, and larger cities and towns in the two-county region are summarized in Table 1 (U.S. Census 2000 and 2012). Beaver County and its largest communities Beaver City and Milford City have experienced modest population growth over the last twelve years. The largest city in the two-county region is Cedar City with a 2012 population of 28,720 and has also experienced population growth between 2000 and 2012. Cedar City has been growing on average approximately 5.6 percent per year since 2000, while Beaver City and Milford City have grown at a rate of 2.1 and 1.3 percent per year, respectively. Table 1 summarizes population figures for 2000 and 2012.

Table 1. Population in the Study Area and State, 2000 and 2012

Geography	2000 Population	2012 Population	Percent Change 2000-2012	Average Annual Population Growth
Beaver County	6,005	6,527	8.7%	0.7%
Beaver City	2,454	3,059	24.7%	2.1%
Milford City	1,451	1,679	15.7%	1.3%
Iron County, Utah	33,779	45,984	39.9%	3.3%
Cedar City	20,527	28,720	66.6%	5.6%
Enoch City	3,467	5,777	9.3%	0.8%
Parowan City	2,565	2,803	23.9%	2.0%
Utah	2,233,169	2,766,233	36.1%	3.0%

Source: U.S. Census 2000 and 2012

The study area has higher unemployment rates than experienced across Utah as a whole. Average annual wages (does not include benefits and fringe) in the study area range from \$28,000 to \$34,000; average wages in Utah are \$41,000. In Beaver and Iron counties, construction employment is 827, accounting for 3.8 percent of the total employed workforce. Mining employment is 293, accounting for 1.4% percent of the total employment in the two-county region. Table 2 summarizes the labor force, unemployment rates, average annual wages, and industry employment in the study area and for Utah.

Table 2. Labor Force and Employment in the Study Area and State, 2013

Geography	Labor Force	Employment	Percent Un- employed	Average Annual Wages	Construction Employment	Mining Employment	Construct- ion Percent of Total Employed	Mining Percent of Total Employed
Beaver County	3,387	3,248	4.1%	\$33,960	153	193	4.7%	5.9%
Iron County, Utah	19,468	18,411	5,4%	\$28,474	674	100	3.7%	0.5%
2-County Study Area	22,855	21,659	5.2%	\$29,187	827	293	3.8%	1.4%
Utah	1,418,522	1,355,720	4.4%	\$41,064	74,633	12,108	5.5%	0.9%

Source: Utah Department of Workforce Services 2013a; 2013b.

5.0 Methodology

This section outlines the methodology used to estimate the potential economic benefits of the construction and operation of the Blawn Mountain Project. This includes a discussion of how IMpact PLANning (IMPLAN) was customized and used to estimate changes in employment, income, sales and Gross Regional Product¹ in both the study area and Utah.

5.1 IMPLAN

This analysis used the IMPLAN software and data system to estimate the economic benefits of the construction and operations of the Project. IMPLAN Professional customizes regional input-output (IO) models to provide estimates of economic output (sales), employment, income, and gross regional product effects in a specified location. IMPLAN is a widely-used government and industry-standard approach to estimate economic impacts for many types of issues. The IO models systematically describe production and consumption sectors within a particular economy through a series of linkages among industries, households, and government. Changes to purchases of goods and services for final consumption (final demand change) drive IO models; in this case, the final demand changes are the capital investments, construction, and operation of the Project. Each industry that produces goods and services generates demands for other goods and services. For example, when construction firms pay their workers (e.g., electricians and plumbers) and purchase supplies or services (e.g., lumber and concrete), additional economic activity is generated in the local or regional economy through jobs, income, and associated household spending. Multipliers are used to describe these iterations. IMPLAN

¹ Gross Regional Product is defined as the market value of final goods and service produced within a specific region (county) for a specified time period (one year).

Version 3.0 has the capability to analyze 440 industry sectors, providing a detailed examination of the economic effects on specific industries.

IMPLAN allows users to estimate direct and secondary (i.e., multiplier) effects. The secondary effects include both indirect and induced effects. The types of effects are defined as follows:

- <u>Direct effect</u> in the impact area in which a project or economic activity is located represents that proportion of the spending or sales in each industry that flows to material and service providers in the impact area. Employment and economic benefits for the direct industries would include jobs and income supporting the construction or operations of the processing plant, the mining operation, sulfuric acid plant, and other support facilities.
- <u>Indirect Effect</u> includes the backward-linked industry suppliers for goods and services that support the directly affected industries. For example, if construction activity is the direct effect, indirect business supporting construction would include lumber suppliers, trucking, steel manufacturers, among others; these are considered backward-linked industries supporting the construction activity.
- <u>Induced Effect</u> occurs from household expenditures or consumer spending associated with the
 direct and indirect workers spending their earnings within the region. This additional spending
 supports businesses and industries within the regional economy generating sales, jobs, labor
 income, and gross regional product.

5.2 Economic Benefits of the Construction and Other Capital Investments

Capital costs for the Project including third party build, own, operate package costs are estimated to be \$1.8 billion over two and a half years. The general types of costs are summarized in Table 3. Since the study area is rural with limited construction services and suppliers, much of the labor, equipment, and materials are assumed to be sourced from outside of the two-county region. Louis Berger met with PRC representatives, including the project manager, engineering, financial, and tax experts regarding the sourcing of the labor, materials, and equipment for the Project. The various costs were then mapped to the relevant IMPLAN sectors to estimate the economic benefits. The two-county and state IMPLAN models were customized to account for these sourcing, industry, and labor assumptions. The model assumptions listed in tables 3 and 4 are discussed in more detail below.

Table 3. Project Capital Costs

Types	Cost (\$Millions) (2013 Dollars)	Model Assumptions
Internal Capital Costs		_
Project Infrastructure	\$90	General Construction Support
Processing Plant (includes direct and indirect costs, does not include the Acid Plant) ¹	\$944	See Table 4
Product Handling and Storage	\$30	General Construction Support
Contingency	\$50	General Construction Support
Capital Costs Sub-Total	\$1,114	-
Third Party Costs		
Access Road	\$53	Local Construction Support
Rail Spur and Loop	\$76	General Construction Support
Natural Gas Pipeline	\$83	General Construction Support
Sulfuric Acid Plant	\$280	Specialized Construction Support
Mine Development	\$89	See Table 4
Water Supply and Treatment System	\$60	General Construction Support
Third Party Costs Sub- Total	\$641	-
Total Capital Costs	\$1,755	-

Source: Technical Report, Resources and Reserves of the Blawn Mountain Project (Norwest Corporation 2013); Potash Ridge Corporation 2014

Additional detail on the equipment, materials, and labor costs was available for the processing plant and the mine development and is summarized in Table 4.

¹ The costs of the processing plant is slightly less than reported \$954 million in the Technical Report, Resources and Reserves of the Blawn Mountain Project (Norwest Corporation, 2013) because the flow sheet adjustment was not included in the figures, resulting in a slightly lower total capital cost.

Table 4. Project Capital Costs for Processing Plant and Mine Investment

Types	Cost (\$Millions) (2013 Dollars)	Model Assumptions
Processing Plant		
Mechanical Equipment, including Auxiliary Services (types are listed)	\$617	Purchased and Fabricated Equipment
Installation of Mechanical Equipment	\$24	Installation Labor
Piping	\$24	Fabricated Pipe
Structural Steel	\$24	Plate Work and Fabricated Steel
Concrete and Foundations	\$14	Local Construction Support
Architectural buildings	\$11	General Construction Support
Electrical	\$39	Electrical and Instrumentation Equipment
Instrumentation	\$9	Electrical and Instrumentation Equipment
Excavation and Site Prep	\$15	Local Construction Support
Painting and Insulation	\$7	General Construction Support
Indirect Costs		
Engineering	\$49	Architecture and Engineering
Construction Management and Procurement	\$16	General Construction Support
Construction-related cost	\$72	General Construction Support
Freight ¹	\$20	Allocated to Equipment Costs
Mine Investment		
Equipment	\$65	General Construction Support
Mine Development	\$16	Mining Support
Mine Facilities	\$9	General Construction Support

Source: Technical Report, Resources and Reserves of the Blawn Mountain Project (Norwest Corporation, 2013)

Local Construction Support

Costs to develop the access road, excavation and prepare the site, and for concrete and foundation contractors were assumed to be locally provided within the two-county region. These costs were mapped to general construction sectors. The direct labor was assumed to occur on the project location. In addition, the induced and indirect impacts were assumed to accrue to the local two-county region. These assumptions were also applied to the state IMPLAN model.

¹ Freight Costs have been allocated to the equipment in the model and not directly modeled in IMPLAN. Sales tax estimates were excluded from the economic analysis.

General Construction Support

The capital investments for construction management, buildings, mine facilities, water supply and treatment system, and project infrastructure were allocated to the various relevant construction sectors in the IMPLAN model. These construction activities were assumed to occur at the Project location. Companies providing these services and workforce were not assumed to be from the local region and their workforce was assumed to be temporary in nature for the duration of the work. As a result, all indirect impacts were removed from the estimate and induced impacts were reduced by half. However, the construction companies providing these services were assumed to be from the Salt Lake City area or elsewhere in the state, and as a result, all direct, indirect, and induced impacts were included in the state estimate.

Specialized Construction Support

The construction of the sulfuric acid plant was provided as a lump sum cost estimate and construction would require specialized labor skills, equipment and materials. Although specific details of the types of equipment and materials were not available in the lump sum estimate, it was known that equipment will primarily be purchased from out-of-state vendors. The acid plant capital costs were therefore applied to IMPLAN Sector 36, Construction of Other Non-residential Structures. The indirect impacts were removed from both the two-county and state models. For the two-county model, half of the induced impacts were assumed to accrue to the region, while 70 percent were assumed to be captured within the state.

Purchased and Fabricated Equipment

The mechanical equipment needed for the processing plant was identified from the equipment list, which was used to inform the equipment costs for the financial model. PRC engineering and financial representatives grouped the types of equipment into fabricated metal equipment and items that would likely be purchased from vendors located outside the state. Purchased items were then allocated to the appropriate manufacturing sector in IMPLAN. The analysis used margins and the sourcing assumptions provided by the IMPLAN trade flows model. Most of this equipment would be purchased from vendors outside the state and therefore, most of the costs were not captured within the two-county or the state model. The fabricated equipment, such as buffer bins, conveyers, chutes, and thickeners, were allocated to the appropriate fabricated equipment sector. IMPLAN's trade flows estimates were used for the sourcing assumptions. In general, no equipment was captured within the two-county model, and a portion of the costs was captured in the state model.

Installation Labor

Labor to install the mechanical equipment for the processing plant was applied to the employee compensation in IMPLAN and was assumed to all occur at the site location. All of the direct impacts were captured in the two-county and state models. This labor was assumed to be temporary in nature and therefore only half of the induced impacts were captured in the two-county region and 70 percent were captured in the state model. Employee compensation does not include indirect impact estimates.

Fabricated Pipe and Steel

Piping and steel building materials would be purchased from fabricators or manufacturers. The appropriate sector in IMPLAN was used to estimate these economic benefits. IMPLAN's trade flows estimates were used for the sourcing assumptions. In general, this equipment was not captured within the two-county model, and a portion of the costs was captured in the state model.

Electrical and Instrumentation Equipment

Electrical equipment and instruments would be purchased from fabricators or manufacturers. The appropriate sector in IMPLAN was used to estimate these economic benefits. IMPLAN's trade flows estimates were used for the sourcing assumptions. In general, this equipment was not captured within the two-county model, and a small portion of the costs was captured in the state model.

Architectural and Engineering

Engineering cost estimates were run through IMPLAN Sector 369, Architectural, Engineering, and Related Services. PRC representatives estimated that approximately 30 percent of the engineering cost would remain in Utah and be captured by Utah companies. No engineering services would originate in the two-county region.

Mining Support

Development of the mine is expected to be supported by companies located within Utah. IMPLAN's trade flows data indicated that 94 percent of this cost would be allocated within the state. IMPLAN's trade flows estimates were used for the sourcing assumptions. No mine development costs were allocated in the two-county region. However, equipment and construction of mine facilities were allocated to the two-county region as described above under construction.

5.3 Economic Benefits of Blawn Mountain Project Operations

The direct effect for the input into the economic impact models for the operations of the plant and mine is gross revenues or the value of production. PRC estimates that average annual gross revenue from the sale of potassium sulfate (\$419M) and sulfuric acid (\$194M) would be \$613 million in 2013 dollars. Potassium sulfate and sulfuric acid manufacturing falls in IMPLAN Sector 125, All Other Basic Inorganic Chemical Manufacturing. The gross revenues (less the costs of operating the mine – see below) were run through IMPLAN sector 125. IMPLAN Sector 125 was customized to remove the mining intermediate input as this impact was assessed through a separate analysis. In addition, Sector 125 economic output, employment, and other value added ratios were adjusted in IMPLAN to reflect the economic conditions (i.e., employment, economic output) of the processing plant.

Alumina is a third potential product that can be produced from the Project. Because additional analysis and research needed to determine if the production of alumina is economically feasible, potential revenue from the alumina rich material was not included in this analysis. This potential will be explored as part of the Feasibility Study for the Project.

PRC plans to pay the mine contractor \$42.4 million on an annual basis to operate the mine. IMPLAN Sector 27, Other Nonmetallic Mineral Mining and Quarrying, was used to estimate the economic benefits of this activity. Because this sector does not currently exist in the regional IMPLAN model for the two-county study area, modifications were made to the model by adding ratios from the national industry averages and production functions, in order to account for this economic activity. The Other Nonmetallic Mineral Mining and Quarrying sector was customized in IMPLAN to reflect employment and revenues estimates of the mining operation, as described in the *Technical Report, Resources and Reserves of Blawn Mountain Project* (Norwest Corporation, 2013).

5.4 Fiscal Benefits

Fiscal benefits associated with the construction and operation of the processing plant was provided in the *Technical Report, Resources and Reserves of the Blawn Mountain Project* (Norwest Corporation, 2013). This report provides descriptions of the calculations for the following tax categories:

- sales taxes associated with the purchase of materials and equipment for the processing plant capital investments
- property taxes
- corporate income taxes
- royalties, lease payments, and bonus payments (Norwest Corporation, 2013).

In addition, Louis Berger estimated the following taxes, which are further described below:

- sales tax receipts associated with materials and equipment purchases associated with the capital costs, excluding the processing plant;
- sales taxes generated from the construction workers and other indirect and induced workers spending a portion of their wages within Utah;
- annual sales taxes from the operations of the facility from the workforce and other indirect and induced workers spending a portion of their wages within Utah.

Corporation, 2013), the Utah sales tax rate of 5.95 percent was applied to 30 percent of the capital costs, excluding the processing plant (and excluding engineering and construction management costs), which included construction of the mine, water supply and treatment facility, Project infrastructure, storage buildings, access roads, pipeline, and rail spurs. Since most of the equipment for the acid plant is specialty equipment, it was excluded in the sales tax estimate. Based on the assumptions for the processing plant, it was assumed that 60.6 percent of the remaining construction costs, which did not include engineering and construction management costs, was \$321.8 million. Thirty percent of \$321.8 million, or \$96.5 million was assumed to be subject to sales tax, to which the state and county sales tax rate of 5.95 percent was then applied (Norwest Corporation, 2013).

In addition, construction workers as well as other indirect and induced workers spend their money on retail and other taxable goods, contributing to additional sales taxes. IMPLAN was used to estimate the

spending that would occur on various sales-taxable sectors associated with the labor income supported by the construction activity. Industry sectors that generally generate tax revenue include retail, food and beverage, accommodations, recreation industries, and various types of services. A similar method was used to estimate the sales taxes generated from operations workers spending in Utah.

6.0 Results

This section summarizes the results of the economic benefit analysis for two phases of the project: construction and operation. The methodology used to analyze benefits is discussed in detail in Section 5.0.

6.1 Economic Benefits of Construction and Capital Investments

Construction of the processing plant, sulfuric acid plant, mine, other support facilities and infrastructure, and other indirect construction costs, such as engineering and construction management, is expected to occur over two and a half years. The capital investments of \$1.8 billion are expected to support 4,546 average annual jobs during the two and a half year period. In addition, \$305 million in labor income, \$344 million in gross regional product, and \$1.1 billion in sales would be generated in the two-county region over the construction period. The construction workforce will likely be temporary in nature, coming from the Salt Lake City region as well as outside the state. Very little indirect impacts would accrue to the region from the construction activity as most of the businesses and materials would come from outside the local area.

Within Utah, the construction of the project is expected to support 7,313 average annual jobs. In addition, construction would support \$869 million in labor income, \$1.1 billion in gross state product, and \$2.3 billion in sales for the duration of the construction activity. Table 5 summarizes the economic benefits of the construction activity to the two-county study area and the state.

Table 5. Construction and Capital Investments Economic Benefits (2013\$)

Economic Impact Type	Average Annual Jobs	Total Labor Income (\$M)	Total Gross Regional Product (\$M)	Total Sales (\$M)	
Two-county Region)				
Direct Impacts	4,142	\$279.3	\$289.4	\$981.6	
Indirect Impacts	57	\$3.8	\$6.4	\$13.6	
Induced Impacts	347	\$21.9	\$47.8	\$83.0	
Total	4,546	\$305.1	\$343.6	\$1,078.1	
Utah					
Direct Impacts	4,287	\$541.7	\$612.6	\$1,286.0	
Indirect Impacts	1,106	\$140.4	\$208.6	\$398.0	
Induced Impacts	1,920	\$186.9	\$325.9	\$567.5	
Total	7,313	\$869.0	\$1,147.1	\$2,251.5	

Source: IMPLAN 2012 - Beaver and Iron counties and State of Utah.

Note: Values are in 2013 dollars. Jobs include both full-time and part-time positions.

6.2 Economic Benefits of Mine and Processing Plant Operations

It is expected that the Project will generate on average \$613 million in gross revenues from the sale of potassium sulfate and sulfuric acid. The operation of the mine and processing and support facilities would support, on average, 1,576 total annual jobs in the two-county region in addition to \$90.4 million in labor income, \$230 million in gross regional product and \$745.1 million in sales, annually, over the life of the Project. These benefits are expected to occur once the Project reaches full production and continue over the 40-year life of the mine.

In the state, 3,095 total average annual jobs are expected to be supported by Project operations. In addition, the operations are expected to support \$188 million in labor income, \$375 million in gross state product, and \$1.0 billion in sales annually. Operations of the mine, processing plant, and support facilities generates a considerable multiplier effect. In the two-county region, for every job employed by the mine or processing plant, an additional 2 jobs are created or retained in the local region. In the state, there is a larger multiplier effect as the economy of the state captures additional economic activity; for every job employed by the mine or processing plant, an additional 5 jobs are created or retained in the state. Table 6 summarizes the annual economic benefits of the operations of the Project.

Table 6. Average Annual Economic Benefits of Project Operations (2013\$)

Economic Impact Type	Jobs	Labor Income (\$M)	Gross Regional Product (\$M)	Sales (\$M)
Two-county Region				
Direct Impacts	508	\$60.3	\$160.9	\$613.0
Indirect Impacts	740	\$21.8	\$51.5	\$100.8
Induced Impacts	328	\$8.3	\$18.0	\$31.3
Total	1,576	\$90.4	\$230.4	\$745.1
Utah				
Direct Impacts	508	\$62.3	\$153.2	\$613.0
Indirect Impacts	1,532	\$84.7	\$149.8	\$279.7
Induced Impacts	1,055	\$41.1	\$71.6	\$124.7
Total	3,095	\$188.1	\$374.6	\$1,017.4

Source: IMPLAN 2012 - Beaver and Iron counties and State of Utah.

Note: Values are in 2013 dollars. Jobs include both full-time and part-time positions.

6.3 Fiscal Benefits of the Construction and Operations of the Blawn Mountain Project

The mine and processing plant will support state and local governments through taxes and royalties associated with the development and capital investments as well as through the continued operations of the Project. The taxes and royalties are summarized in Table 7 and described below.

Table 7. Taxes and Royalty Estimates

Tax Estimates	Tax or Royalties (\$Millions) (2013 Dollars)
Construction	
Sales Tax from Purchases of Materials and	\$11.5
Equipment (State and County)	
Sales Tax Generated from Worker Spending	\$8.3
(State and County)	
Total Sales Tax Receipts During 2.5 Year	\$19.8
Construction Period	
One-Time Bonus Payments (State)	\$1.2
Operations over Life of Mine	
Average Annual Property Taxes (County)	\$7.3
Average Annual Corporate Income Taxes (State	
and Federal)	\$53.0
State	\$6.9
Federal	\$46.1
Average Annual Royalties and Lease Payments	\$28.7
(State)	ć1 O
Average Annual Sales Tax (State and County)	\$1.8
Total State and County Average Annual Taxes	\$44.8

Source: Technical Report, Resources and Reserves of the Blawn Mountain Project (Norwest Corporation, 2013); Louis Berger analysis.

Sales Taxes on Capital and Construction Costs

An estimated \$5.8 million in sales taxes would be paid to the state with the purchase of materials, supplies, and equipment from Utah associated with the construction of the processing plant (Norwest Corporation, 2013). The Utah sales tax rate of 5.95 percent was applied to 30 percent of the capital costs of the processing plant, excluding costs for engineering and construction management. The costs for this sales tax estimate excluded the calciner, which is a large cost and likely to be purchased from a vendor located outside the state. In addition, construction of the mine, water supply and treatment facility, project infrastructure, storage buildings, access roads, pipeline, and rail spurs would all require the purchase of equipment and materials, generating sales tax receipts for the State. Since most of the equipment for the acid plant would be purchased from vendors located outside the state, it was not included in the sales tax estimate. Based on the assumptions for the processing plant, it was assumed that 60.6 percent of the remaining construction costs (\$531 million) were capital costs exclusive of costs for engineering and construction management. Thirty percent of these capital costs were then assumed to be subject to sales tax, to which the 5.95 percent state and county sales tax rate was applied, resulting in \$5.7 million in sales taxes. When aggregated, \$5.7 million and \$5.8 million result in a total of \$11.5 million in sales tax receipts associated with the purchase of materials and equipment for the construction activity.

In addition, construction workers as well as other indirect and induced workers spend their money on retail and other taxable goods, generating additional sales tax receipts. An estimated \$189.8 million (of the total \$869 million in total labor income for the construction activity) would be spent on taxable industries, to which 5.95 percent was applied, resulting in \$8.3 million in taxes generated from wage and income spending associated with the construction activity. These taxes would accrue for the duration of the construction activity.

Property Taxes

Property taxes for the Project would be centrally assessed and collected annually by Beaver County. The valuation of the properties would be undertaken using the centrally assessed property rules provided by the Property Tax Division of the Utah State Tax Commission. It is anticipated that \$7.3 million in annual property taxes, on average, would be collected, resulting in approximately \$300 million in property taxes collected over the life of the project (Norwest Corporation, 2013).

Beaver County charged \$10.5 million in property taxes for both locally and centrally assessed properties in fiscal year 2012 (Utah State Tax Commission 2014). These taxes primarily support school districts, as well as special districts (i.e., fire, ambulance, etc.), and city, town, and county budgets. The Project's contribution to Beaver County property taxes would increase these taxes by 70 percent.

Corporate Income Taxes

Corporate income taxes in Utah are collected on corporate earnings. Individual income taxes and corporate franchise and income taxes in Utah, as specified in the Utah Constitution, are used strictly to fund public and higher education (Utah State Tax Commission 2014). A blended rate of 38.25 percent was used to estimate both federal and state corporate tax receipts from the Project, including the effect of the Alternative Minimum Tax provisions (Norwest Corporation, 2013). An estimated \$53 million in average annual corporate income taxes would be paid to the state and the federal government. As the State of Utah's income tax rate on corporations is 5 percent of net income, approximately \$7 million of this total would be paid to the state of Utah while the remaining \$46 million would be paid to the Federal government annually. Over the 40-year life of the Project, \$2.2 billion in income taxes would be paid to the State and the federal government over the life of the project (Norwest Corporation, 2013).

Royalties, Lease Payments, and Bonuses

Initially, PRC gained access to the property through a Metalliferous Minerals and Potash Exploration Agreement and Option to Lease. Following extensive resource definition work under the Exploration with Option to Lease Agreement, and satisfying State of Utah School and Institutional Trust Lands Administration conditions and payment schedule, PRC now holds three metalliferrous minerals leases to develop the property.

The primary term of the lease will be for 10 years with a provision to extend at 5-year intervals after primary term provided the lessee is either in production of leased minerals or in diligent development of

leased minerals. Royalties are also paid to SITLA and are based on the lease agreement between the State and PRC, which provides for a royalty of 5% and 4% to be paid on the selling price for sulfate of potash and sulfuric acid, respectively. It was estimated that \$28.7 million in average annual royalties would be paid to Utah during the period of operation of the mine (Norwest Corporation, 2013), resulting in \$1.1 billion over the 40-year life of the project.

Sales Taxes

The operation of the Project would also contribute to sales and use tax receipts for the State and county. The mine and plant workforce as well as other indirect and induced workers spend their money on retail and other taxable goods, generating additional sales tax receipts. An estimated \$30.0 million (of the total \$188.1 million in total labor income for the annual operational activity) would be spent on taxable industries, to which a 5.95 percent was applied, resulting in \$1.8 million in annual sales taxes generated from wage and income spending associated with the operations of the mine and plant. These taxes would accrue over the life of the Project.

7.0 References

IMPLAN 2012. 2012 State Data File for the State of Utah. 2012 County data files for Beaver and Iron Counties, Utah. Obtained from IMPLAN on October 6, 2014. Available online at www.implan.com.

Norwest Corporation. December 2, 2013. Technical Report, Resources and Reserves of the Blawn Mountain Project, Beaver County, Utah. Authors: Steven Kerr, Lawrence D. Henchel, Jason N. Todd, Robert I. Nash, and L. Ravindra Nath.

Potash Ridge Corporation. 2014. PFS Financial Model v8, Provided by Paul Hampton, Vice President, Project Management, Potash Ridge Corporation on October 10, 2014.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2012. ACS Demographic and Housing 5-Year Estimates. Accessed October 28, 2014. Available:

http://factfinder2.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS_12_5YR_DP05_&prodType=table.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2000. Profile of General Demographic information, Table SF1. Accessed October 28, 2014. Available: http://factfinder2.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/searchresults.xhtml?refresh=t.

Utah Department of Workforce Services. 2013a. Labor Force Data Viewer. Average Annual Labor Force, Employment, and Unemployment. Accessed November 10, 2014. Available: http://jobs.utah.gov/jsp/wi/utalmis/gotoLaborforce.do.

Utah Department of Workforce Services. 2013b. 2013 Employment and Wages. Accessed November 10, 2014. Available: Accessed November 10, 2014. Available: http://jobs.utah.gov/jsp/wi/utalmis/gotoIndustry.do.

Utah State Tax Commission. January 1, 2014. Annual Report 2012 – 2013.